HIV-1 NUCLEAR IMPORT: IN SEARCH OF A LEADER

Michael I. Bukrinsky¹ and Omar K. Haffar²

¹The Picower Institute for Medical Research, Manhasset, NY 11030, ²Cytokine Networks Inc., 101 Elliott Ave West, Suite 428, Seattle, WA 98119

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1. Abstract

- 2. Introduction
- 3. Cellular Nuclear Import Machinery
- 4. HIV-1 Nuclear Import
 - 4.1. Role of active nuclear import in the HIV-1 life cycle
 - 4.2. Viral proteins that regulate nuclear import
 - 4.2.1. Matrix Antigen (MA)
 - 4.2.2. Integrase (IN)
 - 4.2.3. Viral Protein R (Vpr)
- 5. Nuclear Import as a Drug Target
 - 5.1. Compounds which inactivate viral NLSs
 - 5.2. Compounds which bind to karyopherin alpha
 - 5.3. Perspectives for development of nuclear import inhibitors as anti-HIV drugs.
- 6. Summary and Conclusions
- 7. Acknowledgment
- 8. References

1. ABSTRACT

The ability of HIV-1 to use host cell nuclear import machinery to translocate the viral preintegration complex into the cell nucleus is the critical determinant in the replication of the virus in non-dividing cells, such as macrophages. In this review, we describe the viral and cellular factors involved in this process. The available data suggest that the process of HIV-1 nuclear import is driven by interaction between nuclear localization signals (NLSs) present on viral proteins matrix and integrase and the cellular NLS receptor, karyopherin alpha. However, this interaction by itself is weak and insufficient to insure effective import of the preintegration complex. Viral protein R (Vpr) functions to increase the affinity of interaction between viral NLSs and karyopherin alpha, thus substantially enhancing the karyophilic potential of the preintegration complex. Interestingly, some cells, in particular HeLa, seem to contain a factor which can substitute for the Vpr's activity, making HIV-1 replication in such cells Vpr-independent. We also describe a class of novel anti-HIV compounds which target the NLSs of HIV-1 and effectively block viral replication in T cells and macrophages.

2. INTRODUCTION

Intense research into the fundamental processes of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) replication

Received 11/7/97 Accepted 11/14/97

has yielded knowledge that in many aspects equals or exceeds that of the oncogenic retroviruses. As a clearer picture of the pattern of HIV-1 replication evolves, it becomes apparent that HIV-1 biology is distinct from that of the prototypic oncogenic retroviruses in several key aspects, particularly with regard to host cell range and determinants of viral permissiveness. The most striking feature of HIV-1 biology is its ability to replicate in nondividing cells (1-4). Non-dividing cells of the monocyte/macrophage lineage are supposed to be among the first targets of HIV infection (5,6) and are likely to contribute significantly to HIV-1 persistence (7,8) and the complications of AIDS (9). Early results (10) indicated that the process of nuclear import of the HIV-1 genome is ATP-dependent, thus implying an active, energydependent import mechanism, rather than passive diffusion. This is in contrast to oncogenic retroviruses which lack this mechanism and have to rely on the dissolution of the nuclear envelope during mitosis for delivery of their genome into the nucleus (3,11). Such an energy-dependent mechanism is characteristic for the nuclear import of cellular proteins and ribonucleoproteins (RNPs), thus suggesting that the virus is exploiting the cellular nuclear import machinery.

An indirect confirmation of this hypothesis came from the demonstration that nuclear import of HIV-1 could be greatly impaired by mutations in a short stretch of basic amino acids within the viral matrix antigen (MA) with a high similarity to nuclear localization signals (NLSs) identified in many cellular nuclear proteins (4,12).

Send correspondence to: Dr. Michael Bukrinsky, The Picower Institute for Medical Research, 350 Community Drive, Manhasset, NY 11030. Tel: (516)365-4200, Fax: (516)365-0286, E-mail: mbukrinsky@picower.edu

Subsequent studies also added integrase (13) and viral protein R (Vpr) (2,12,14) to the list of viral karyophilic proteins. All these proteins have been shown to be components of the viral preintegration complex (PIC) (14,15), and the evolving hypothesis postulated that they function as adapters which connect the HIV-1 PIC to the nuclear import machinery.

In this article, we review the mechanisms of interaction between the HIV-1 PIC and the cellular nuclear import machinery and discuss the role of HIV-1 karyophilic proteins in this interaction.

3. CELLULAR NUCLEAR IMPORT MACHINERY

Nuclear transport of macromolecules occurs through the nuclear pore complexes and is controlled by the nuclear localization signals (NLSs). The most common type of NLSs is a short stretch of basic amino acids that introduce an overall net positive charge crucial for nuclear targeting properties of these sequences (reviewed in (16)). Import of NLS-containing proteins across the nuclear pore complex is mediated by karyopherin alphabeta heterodimers (also termed NLS receptor/importin) which bind NLS-containing proteins in the cytosol and target them to the nucleus (17-23). Karyopherin alpha binds the NLS (17) whereas karyopherin beta enhances the affinity of alpha for the NLS (24) and mediates docking of karyopherin-NLS protein complexes to nucleoporins (a collective term for nuclear pore complex proteins) that contain FG peptide repeats (20,24,25). A different import pathway is mediated by the M9 domain, which is the import signal for hnRNP such as A1, and employs the transportin- (a homologue of karyopherin beta), rather than karyopherin alphabeta-mediated, pathway (26-29).

The small GTP binding protein, Ran (30,31), is a key regulator of the import process. Ran switches between the GDP- and GTP-bound states by nucleotide exchange and GTP hydrolysis. Because the intrinsic rates of these reactions are very low, the nucleotide associated with Ran, and hence the state of Ran's activation, is determined by the presence of RCC1 (Ran's major nucleotide exchange factor (32)) and RanGAP1 (the only known RanGTPase-activating protein (33,34)). RCC1 is chromatin-bound (35), while RanGAP1 is excluded from the nucleus (36). Therefore, the concentration of Ran-GTP is high in the nucleus and low in the cytoplasm. It is believed that this gradient is used to provide direction to the nucleo-cytoplasmic exchange. In particular, by directly binding to karyopherin beta in the nucleoplasm, Ran-GTP disassembles the import complex (24) and thus terminates the import process (37). It also stimulates assembly of the karyopherin alpha complex with CAS, a recently discovered export factor (38), thus promoting re-export of karyopherin alpha into the cytoplasm for recycling. A family of Ran-binding proteins facilitates the function of Ran. These include RanBP1, which activates RanGTPase (39,40) and also stabilizes the interaction of Ran-GDP with karyopherin beta during translocation through the pore (41), and RanBP2 (Nup358), which may be the initial docking site for nuclear protein import (42,43).

In addition to karyopherins and Ran, several other soluble proteins are involved in nuclear import, although their mechanism of action is less defined. The nuclear import factor p10 (also termed NTF2) (44,45) appears to coordinate the activity of Ran by binding Ran-GDP into a complex with nucleoporin-docked karyopherins (46). Heat-shock protein 70 (Hsp70, Hsc70), as well as some as yet uncharacterized cytoplasmic factors, may act to facilitate the interaction between the NLS and karyopherin alpha (47,48). The ectopic expression of human Hsp70 in mouse cells complemented the defective import of a mutant SV40 large T antigen (49), and the depletion of Hsp70 from cytosolic extracts prevented import (50,51).

4. HIV-1 NUCLEAR IMPORT

4.1. Role of active nuclear import in HIV-1 life cycle

Oncogenic retroviruses enter the nuclear compartment of target cells during mitosis, when the nuclear envelop is resolved (3,11). Although HIV-1 was shown to infect and replicate in non-dividing cells by utilizing the active nuclear import mechanism (4,10,12), it was hypothesized that in dividing cells, such as activated T lymphocytes, entry of the virus into the nucleus occurred during mitosis, and thus did not require active nuclear importation. This concept was based primarily on the ability of import-deficient mutants to replicate in CD4⁺ T cell lines (4,10,14). Nevertheless, published evidence indicated that active nuclear import mechanism can be functional in HIV-1 infection of immortalized T cells, at least under certain conditions. For instance, while HIV-1 does not replicate in quiescent (G₀) T lymphocytes (52,53), it can productively infect T cells arrested in either G₁-S (54) or G2 (55) phases of the cell cycle, suggesting that cell activation, but not cell division, is necessary for virus replication in T cells. Several lines of evidence support the notion that HIV-1 infection in vivo may occur primarily in activated but non-dividing cells. Firstly, CD4⁺ T lymphocytes replicate very slowly in vivo. For instance, naïve T lymphocytes divide once every 3.5 years, while memory T lymphocytes divide once every 22 weeks Secondly, cell cycle analysis performed on (56)peripheral blood mononuclear cells freshly collected from HIV-1 infected individuals detected approximately 98% of cells in G₀-G₁, 2% in S and G₂ combined, and almost no mitotic cells (57). Furthermore, the combined length of the G₁, S, and G₂ phases covers most of the cycle span of a T cell, while mitosis lasts for only 2-3 hr. Finally, evaluation of HIV-1 replication dynamics in vivo revealed rapid turnover rate for free plasma virus ($t_{1/2}$ 6 hr), and rapid loss of virus-producing cells ($t_{1/2} = 1.6$ d) (58). High number of infected cells and a rapid dynamics of virus

replication combined with a low number of proliferating T cells argue against HIV-1 replication in dividing cells.

The ability of HIV-1 to replicate in interphasic $CD4^+$ T lymphocytes suggests that the virus may utilize the same active nuclear importation pathway as used during infection of primary macrophages. The importance of this pathway for the virus is further underscored by the ability of virion-packaged Vpr to arrest infected T cells in the G₂ phase (M. Emerman, personal communication). This effect would make active nuclear import crucial for the survival of the virus in an infected target cell.

These considerations clearly indicate that while active nuclear import may not be required for HIV-1 infection of immortalized T cell lines or rapidly dividing mitogen-activated primary T cells *in vitro*, in the environment of chronic infection *in vivo* where antigendriven cell activation is slow and tightly regulated, this cellular pathway may be critical for establishment of HIV-1 infection and propagation of the virus.

4.2. Viral proteins that regulate nuclear import

4.2.1. Matrix antigen (MA)

Early studies recognized the karyophilic properties of MA (59-63). The MA protein was the first to be identified as a participant from the viral side in the process of HIV-1 nuclear import (4). Its role turned out to be also the most controversial one. The work by Bukrinsky et al. (4) and by Nadler et al. (47) demonstrated that a basic region in the MA protein encompassing amino acids 25-33, G²⁵KKKYKLKH, functions as an NLS when conjugated to BSA. Compared to the NLS of SV40 large T antigen, this MA NLS was a weak one, requiring the presence of multiple peptides per BSA molecule to achieve partial nuclear localization. Another basic region in the C-terminal part of the MA protein, N¹⁰⁹KSKKKA, was found to be an even weaker NLS, although it was still capable of targeting the BSA-NLS conjugate into the nucleus (47). Given such an incomplete effect of peptides corresponding to the MA NLS when compared to the effect of strong NLSs, such as the SV40 large T antigen NLS, it is not surprising that Fouchier et al. (64) interpreted their results as negative when analyzing the nuclear import function of the MA NLS peptide. These authors further analyzed the intracellular localization of MA fused to pyruvate kinase or maltose binding protein, and detected the proteins only in the cytoplasm. Again, this result is in contrast to results of a similar experiment performed by Gallay et al. (13) who detected nuclear localization of the GST-MA fusion protein. Given the weakness of the MA NLS, these differences may reflect the way that the MA NLS is presented in a particular fusion protein, or simply the size of such protein. In any case, the value of these experiments for assessing the role of the MA protein in HIV-1 nuclear import is at least questionable, since there is no evidence that MA functions in the import process as a fusion protein.

A more direct analysis of the MA NLS role in HIV-1 nuclear import came from mutagenesis experiments. These studies clearly demonstrated that mutations introduced into the MA NLS substantially diminished HIV-1 replication in non-proliferating cells (2,4,12,64,65). Surprisingly, the replication defect of the MA NLS mutants was observed to some extent in proliferating cells, such as T cell lines or activated PBLs (64,65). Because viral replication in proliferating cells was considered to be independent of nuclear import, these results were interpreted as an evidence for the lack of MA role in HIV-1 nuclear import (64,65). Recent studies, however, demonstrated significance of the active nuclear import process for effective replication of the virus in activated, proliferating T lymphocytes (see a special section of this review on the role of nuclear import in HIV-1 life cycle). In addition, some of those results (64) were obtained with viruses that carry a functional Vpr gene, thus masking the effect of mutations in the MA NLS (see below). Finally, mutagenesis of the MA NLS was usually limited to substitution of threonines for lysines in positions 26 and 27, while earlier analysis (4) clearly demonstrated that replacement of lysines in positions 26, 27, 30, and 32 was required for complete inactivation of the NLS activity. In addition, the second functional NLS identified in the C-terminal part of MA (47) can partially substitute for the defective N-terminal NLS (M.I.B. and O.K.H., unpublished data).

Overall, it appears that although HIV-1 MA carries an NLS(s), it is a rather weak one. How then can it target to the nucleus a large macromolecular complex, such as the HIV-1 pre-integration complex? To some extent the weakness of the MA NLS is compensated by the presence of multiple (1,000) copies of MA in the HIV-1 PIC (66). Presence of multiple NLSs has been shown to improve substantially nuclear import (67). In addition, other proteins within the PIC (e.g. integrase, see below) may contribute their NLSs to the process of HIV nuclear import. However, multiplicity of NLSs on the HIV-1 PIC is not sufficient to make it a strong karyophile without involvement of another viral protein, Vpr. This protein regulates interaction between the viral NLSs and karyopherin alpha, thus effectively enhancing the karyophilic potential of the PIC (see below).

4.2.2. Integrase (IN)

A role for integrase in HIV-1 nuclear import has been suggested recently by Gallay and co-workers (13). They demonstrated that IN associates with karyopherin alpha and can target a fusion GST-IN protein into the nucleus of microinjected COS cells. This result contradicts a previously published report (68) in which no karyophilic activity of IN-beta-galactosidase fusion protein was identified. Although the explanation for this disparity suggested by Gallay et al. (68), namely, that the configuration of a particular fusion construct may influence the availability of the NLS, is quite credible, it appears that the inherent weakness of the IN NLS may be another important factor influencing the outcome of these experiments.

The contribution of IN to HIV-1 nuclear import is even harder to evaluate on the basis of published results. One of the major problems is incomplete inactivation of the MA NLSs in mutants which are considered to be MA NLS-defective. Indeed, as discussed above, inactivation of Lys^{26} and Lys^{27} in the MA NLS is not sufficient to destroy its karyophilic activity, and nuclear import observed after infection with HIV-1 carrying these mutations may be driven by the residual NLS activity of MA. In addition, the multiplicity of infection plays an important role in the outcome of experiments on nuclear import, as demonstrated in a response by Trono and Gallay to a letter by Freed et al. (69). Therefore, experiments with pseudotyped constructs (which carry selected HIV-1 determinants) carrying envelopes of MLV or VSV (70-72) are difficult to interpret given a different route (in case of VSV G protein pseudotyped constructs) and undetermined multiplicity of infection. The only convincing evidence for the role of IN in the import process provided so far is found in the report by Gallay et al. (68) who demonstrated that mutation in the IN gene combined with mutations in Vpr and the MA NLS eliminates nuclear import of HIV-1 PICs in P4 cells, while import of a virus defective in Vpr and the MA NLS is only partially reduced. However, it remains unclear whether Vpr-like cellular proteins (see below) are participating in the nuclear import of HIV-1 in this cell line.

4.2.3. Viral protein R (Vpr)

The first glimpse of the Vpr's role in HIV-1 nuclear import came when it was realized that T cell lineadapted HIV-1 strains used in the initial experiments contained a frame-shift mutation in the vpr gene (2). When strains with a functional vpr were used, the effect of inactivating mutations in the MA NLS on nuclear import was greatly diminished (2,14,73). Vpr rescued replication of an MA NLS mutant in macrophages by providing sufficient, although reduced by about 60-80% compared to wild-type virus, nuclear translocation of viral DNA. Studies performed with the cloned vpr gene demonstrated nuclear localization of Vpr after transfection (74). Also consistent with a nuclear import role of this protein is the finding that Vpr is dispensable for HIV-1 replication in dividing cells, such as transformed T cell lines, while being critically required in non-dividing macrophages (75,76).

The Vpr protein does not contain a canonical NLS, but does have a cluster of 6 arginine residues at the carboxyl terminus which could be a candidate NLS. This region was initially reported to be both necessary and sufficient to direct Vpr to the nucleus (74). However, later studies provided convincing evidence that the nuclear targeting determinant is likely to reside in the amino-

terminal alpha helical half of the protein (77,78). This portion of the protein is also involved in mediating Vpr interactions with cellular protein(s) (79,80). Mutations in the alpha-helix domain of Vpr that abolished proteinprotein interactions also affected nuclear localization of Vpr (78,81). It appeared therefore that karyophilic properties of Vpr are mediated by a cellular Vprinteracting protein.

This protein was recently identified in our lab (Popov et al., submitted). Not surprisingly, it turned out to be karyopherin alpha. A previous study by Gallay et al. (2869) failed to identify Vpr-karyopherin alpha interaction and concluded that Vpr is imported by a karyopherin alpha-independent mechanism. The reason for this disparity lies in an unusual mode of interaction between Vpr and karyopherin alpha. While binding of MA to karyopherin alpha is mediated by the NLS of MA, binding of Vpr to alpha does not involve an NLS. Therefore, interaction of Vpr and karyopherin alpha could not be competed with an excess of NLS peptide (Gallay et al., 1996). The binding site of Vpr on karyopherin alpha does not appear to overlap with the NLS or karyopherin beta binding sites of alpha; in fact, karyopherin alpha, karyopherin beta, Vpr, and MA can assemble into a tetramer.

As a result of Vpr binding to karyopherin alpha the affinity of interaction between the NLS and alpha is increased 5-10 fold. This effect explains the enhancing activity of Vpr on HIV-1 nuclear import. It appears that Vpr regulates the nuclear import of HIV-1 preintegration complexes by binding to karyopherin alpha and increasing its affinity for viral NLSs, including the NLS of MA. This binding interaction may allow the PIC to compete efficiently for karyopherin alphabeta heterodimers in the cytosol, and may facilitate docking and movement of the PIC across the nuclear pore complex. Such an activity of Vpr explains why mutation of the MA NLS had only a modest effect on HIV-1 nuclear import (64,65,73). Indeed, other weak NLSs in the HIV-1 PIC can substitute for the MA NLS in the presence of Vpr. The role of Vpr, therefore, is to make the HIV-1 PIC a strong karyophile by enhancing the interaction of its NLSs with karyopherin alpha. These results implicate Vpr as a key regulator of HIV-1 nuclear import.

Even though all published reports (75,76,82,83) agree on the role of Vpr in HIV-1 infection of non-dividing cells, the magnitude of this effect clearly differs between experimental systems. Discrepancies may be explained by differences between cell types used or methods of cell cultivation. Nevertheless, the fact that substantial replication of HIV-1 with a mutation in the *vpr* gene was observed in macrophages (14,65) and growth-arrested HeLa cells (2), while no nuclear import of such a mutant was detected in an *in vitro* system (Popov *et al.*, submitted), suggests that a cellular protein expressed in those cells can partially substitute for the function of Vpr.

The existence of such proteins is also suggested by a conservation of Vpr-binding site on karyopherin alpha from different species. Indeed, both human and yeast karyopherin alpha bind Vpr (Popov *et al*, submitted), despite their only 40-50% similarity (84). It appears likely that a high-level expression of such proteins in certain cells (e.g. neurons) makes them susceptible to transduction by Vpr-defective lentiviral vectors (72).

5. NULEAR IMPORT OF HIV-1 AS A DRUG TARGET

The protein-protein interaction between the NLSs of the HIV-1 PIC and karyopherin alpha presents an attractive new target for drug development. Interrupting the process of viral replication at the step of nuclear importation of the HIV-1 PIC may be accomplished by developing inhibitors to either of the interacting proteins. In contrast to inhibitors that target viral NLS-proteins, such as MA, inhibitors that interact with karyopherin alpha may affect normal cell function and may be less specific.

5.1. Compounds which bind to the MA NLS

Arylene bis(methyl ketone) compounds modified with a pyrimidine side chain were the first small molecules shown to associate with MA, inhibit binding of the HIV-1 PIC to karvopherin alpha, and block viral replication (85,86). These small molecules are represented by the prototypic compound CNI-H0294. CNI-H0294 forms Schiff-base adducts via its carbonyl moieties with the lysine residues in the MA NLSs (85). This interaction inactivates the MA NLS and represents the primary mechanism of action of CNI-H0294. The specificity of the compound for HIV appears to be derived from the poly-lysine nature of the MA NLS which allows the formation of Schiff base adducts with two neighboring residues. This property of the compound is dictated by the spatial separation of the carbonyl moieties. Additionally, CNI-H0294 associates with the viral RT via the pyrimidine side chain (86). RT is a component of the PIC and may be located in proximity to MA in the HIV-1 PIC (14,15). The exact site on RT where CNI-H0294 binds remains to be identified, however, the presence of fully reverse transcribed nascent cDNA in treated infected cells suggests that it is outside the active site of RT. Consistent with this assumption, CNI-H0294 and its analogues are not antagonistic to AZT or 3TC (see below). Binding to RT appears to stabilize the otherwise reversible Schiff base adducts between CNI-H0294 and lysines in the MA NLS. The mechanism of interaction between CNI-H0294 and the PIC proteins was confirmed using analogues of CNI-H0294 with modifications in either the bis(methyl ketone) group or the pyrimidine ring (86). For instance, removing either the pyrimidine ring or one of the carbonyl moieties reduced the activity of the inhibitor by approximately 200-fold.

CNI-H0294 and its functional analogues specifically inhibited nuclear importation of the HIV-1 PIC as determined by reduction in the levels of 2-LTR circles, a nuclear form of the HIV-1 DNA (85), while binding and entry of the virus into target cells and reverse transcription of the viral RNA were not affected. These results supported the hypothesis that the compounds specifically target the nuclear import step of HIV-1 replication. The CNI compounds inhibited infection of primary macrophage cultures with clinical or lab-adapted isolates of HIV-1 (85). Similarly, these compounds inhibited acute infection of activated PBMC cultures, as well as virus replication in endogenously infected PBMCs collected from HIV-1 seropositive individuals (O.K.H. et al., submitted). Since these individuals commonly carry a swarm of virus quasispecies, this result suggests that the inhibitory effect of the CNI compounds is virus strain-independent. In addition, this latter finding provided an independent confirmation for the role of active nuclear import mechanism in HIV-1 replication in activated T lymphocytes (see above). CNI-H0294 and analogues were also evaluated in vitro in combination with AZT and 3TC. The nuclear importation inhibitors had at least an additive effect when combined with these RT inhibitors (M.I.B. and O.K.H., manuscript in preparation). Furthermore, an analogue of CNI-H0294 inhibited virus replication in activated PBMCs collected from an HIV-1 infected individual resistant to AZT and ddC therapies (O.K.H. and M.I.B., unpublished). Although this represents a single observation, it does suggest that these novel compounds may prove useful for treating HIV-infected cohorts where resistance to established therapies is on the rise.

A distinct NLS in IN has been recently identified, and proposed to play a role in nuclear importation of the HIV-1 PIC (13). Given the poly-lysine nature of this new NLS, and the anti-HIV-1 properties of CNI-H0294 and its analogues, it is plausible that these compounds may also bind to the IN NLS. It would be necessary to address this question to fully delineate the mechanism of action of this class of inhibitors.

5.2. Compounds which bind karyopherin alpha

Inhibition of nuclear importation can also be accomplished by compounds which associate with karyopherin alpha, the cellular NLS receptor. Gulizia *et al.* (87) and Gallay *et al.* (88) utilized the prototypic NLS peptide of the SV40 large T antigen as an inhibitor of karyopherin alpha-PIC binding, and demonstrated the critical importance of this protein-protein interaction in nuclear importation of the HIV genome and HIV-1 infection of target cells. The inhibitory effects of the SV40 NLS peptide were attributed to its ability to compete with the HIV-1 PIC for binding to karyopherin alpha. This was confirmed by Gallay *et al.* (88) who showed by biochemical analysis that binding of Rch1, one form of the human karyopherin alpha, to the MA NLS was competitively inhibited by the SV40 NLS peptide. One limitation however, for the application of NLS peptides as therapeutic compounds for HIV-1 infection is the high levels of peptides necessary to achieve the inhibitory effect. For instance, approximately 100 µM of SV40 NLS was required to inhibit HIV-1 infection, and no inhibition was observed at concentrations below 20 µM (87). Similarly, a very high concentration of the NLS peptide (500 µM) was required to inhibit binding of recombinant karyopherin alpha and PIC in cell free assays (88). These observations may be a result of two distinct events. First, the NLS peptide of SV40 is rich in lysine residues and is therefore highly charged, which limits its uptake into cells across the plasma membrane. Second, it is estimated that each karyopherin alpha protein contains eight NLS binding sites (89). Although, it is not yet clear whether all of these binding sites can be occupied at the same time, this observation suggests that efficient inhibition of all NLSbinding sites on karyopherin alpha may be difficult to achieve. In addition, given the central role that this class of proteins plays in cell activation and transport of transcriptional factors to the nucleus, it remains to be determined whether a significant therapeutic index can be achieved using this approach.

5.3. Perspectives for development of nuclear import inhibitors as anti-HIV drugs

Unlike the classical approach to anti-viral therapeutic drug development which targets the viral enzymes, such as RT, protease, or integrase, targeting nuclear importation represents a novel paradigm for therapeutic intervention in HIV-1 infection. The availability of new inhibitory compounds validates the potential of nuclear importation as a target for drug development. Importantly, these novel compounds inhibit HIV-1 infection in both primary macrophages and activated primary T lymphocytes, the principle target cells of the virus in vivo. Given the demonstrated efficacy of a combination therapy approach to treatment of HIV infection, it is expected that these and other new compounds will be administered together with the available approved therapies. The ability of the nuclear importation inhibitors to synergize with nucleoside analogues in vitro, suggests a promising potential for success of such therapy in vivo.

6. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

Intensive research into the mechanisms of HIV nuclear import revealed new levels of complexity that could not be anticipated in the beginning. Nevertheless, recent findings provided reasonable explanations for the controversial observations regarding the role of various HIV proteins in the import process, and the hypothesis compatible with most published findings seems to have emerged. It appears that the HIV-1 PIC is a relatively weak karyophile driven to the nucleus via a karyopherin alphabeta-dependent pathway. Stable interaction between karyopherin alpha and the HIV-1 PIC is mediated by a coordinated action of Vpr and NLSs present on multiple copies of MA and IN. Using the automobile analogy, the NLS-containing proteins (MA and IN) constitute the engine that drives the complex to the nucleus, while Vpr is the computer that regulates the work of the engine. In the absence of Vpr, nuclear import of HIV is very inefficient, unless a cell has Vpr-substituting proteins. The nature of such proteins is unclear, but one of the possibilities is that they belong to a family of 70 kDa heat shock proteins (reviewed in (90)). On the other hand, without NLS-containing proteins, Vpr would not target the complex to the nucleus. The ultimate test of this hypothesis would be to eliminate all potential NLSs within the PIC, while leaving Vpr intact, although it is unlikely that such an experiment can be done, given a likely perturbation of other viral functions by such extensive mutagenesis.

However, it may be that a similar experiment has been already performed using a different approach. Indeed, bis(methyl ketone) compounds targeting the NLS have been shown to effectively block replication of Vpr⁺ HIV-1 strains (85). Since such compounds do not affect Vpr/karyopherin alpha interaction, this result suggests that functional NLSs are required for the Vpr activity. Although the MA NLS was proposed as a target for bis(methyl ketone) compounds (85,86), it may be that other NLSs within the pre-integration complex are also affected. A low-level residual nuclear import activity observed in the presence of these compounds (85,86) may reflect incomplete inactivation of the NLSs. Clearly, Vpr/karyopherin alpha interaction presents a good target for second generation inhibitors of HIV nuclear import.

7. ACKNOWLEDGMENT

We are grateful to M. Emerman for communicating unpublished results. This work was supported in part by NIH grants R01 AI 40386 and R01 AI 33776 to M.B. and by the funds from The Picower Institute for Medical Research.

8. REFERENCES

1. Weinberg, J. B., T. J. Matthews, B. R. Cullen, & M. H. Malim: Productive human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) infection of nonproliferating human monocytes. *J Exp Med* 174, 1477-1482 (1991)

2. Emerman, M., M. Bukrinsky, & M. Stevenson: HIV-1 infection of non-dividing cells. *Nature* 369, 107-108 (1994)

3. Lewis, P. & M. Emerman: Passage through mitosis is required for oncoretroviruses but not for the human immunodeficiency virus. *J Virol* 68, 510-516 (1994)

4. Bukrinsky, M. I., S. Haggerty, M. P. Dempsey, N. Sharova, A. Adzhubei, L. Spitz, P. Lewis, D. Goldfarb, M. Emerman, & M. Stevenson: A nuclear localization signal

within HIV-1 matrix protein that governs infection of nondividing cells. *Nature* 365, 666-669 (1993)

5. Fenyo, E. M., J. Albert, & B. Asjo: Replicative capacity, cytopathic effect and cell tropism of HIV. *AIDS* 3 (Suppl 1), S5-S12 (1989)

6. Connor, R. I. & D. D. Ho: Human immumodeficiency virus type 1 variants with increased replicative capacity develop during the asymptomatic stage before disease progression. *J Virol* 68, 4400-4408 (1994)

7. Innocenti, P., M. Ottmann, P. Morand, P. Leclercq, & J. M. Seigneurin: HIV-1 in blood monocytes: frequency of detection of proviral DNA using PCR and comparison with the total CD4 count. *AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses* 8, 261-268 (1992)

8. Meltzer, M. S., D. R. Skillman, P. J. Gomatos, D. C. Kalter, & H. E. Gendelman: Role of mononuclear phagocytes in the pathogenesis of human immunodeficiency virus infection. *Annu Rev Immunol* 8, 169-194 (1990)

9. Ho, W. Z., R. Cherukuri, & S. D. Douglas: The macrophage and HIV-1. *Immunol Ser* 60, 569-587 (1994)

10. Bukrinsky, M. I., N. Sharova, M. P. Dempsey, T. L. Stanwick, A. G. Bukrinskaya, S. Haggerty, & M. Stevenson: Active nuclear import of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 preintegration complex. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 89, 6580-6584 (1992)

11. Roe, T. Y., T. C. Reynolds, G. Yu, & P. O. Brown: Integration of murine leukemia virus DNA depends on mitosis. *EMBO J* 12, 2099-2108 (1993)

12. von Schwedler, U., R. S. Kornbluth, & D. Trono: The nuclear localization signal of the matrix protein of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 allows the establishment of infection in macrophages and quiescent T lymphocytes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 91, 6992-6996 (1994)

13. Gallay, P., T. Hope, D. Chin, & D. Trono: HIV-1 infection of nondividing cells through the recognition of integrase by the importin/karyopherin pathway. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 40, 9825-9830 (1997)

14. Heinzinger, N. K., M. I. Bukrinsky, S. A. Haggerty, A. M. Ragland, V. Kewalramani, M. -A. Lee, H. E. Gendelman, L. Ratner, M. Stevenson, & M. Emerman: The Vpr protein of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 influences nuclear localization of viral nucleic acids in nondividing host cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 91, 7311-7315 (1994)

15. Bukrinsky, M. I., N. Sharova, T. L. McDonald, T. Pushkarskaya, W. G. Tarpley, & M. Stevenson: Association of integrase, matrix, and reverse transcriptase

antigens of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 with viral nucleic acids following acute infection. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 90, 6125-6129 (1993)

16. Dingwall, C. & R. A. Laskey: Nuclear targeting sequences-a consensus? *Trends Biochem Sci* 16, 478-481 (1991)

17. Adam, S. A. & L. Gerace: Cytosolic proteins that specifically bind nuclear location signals are receptors for nuclear import. *Cell* 66, 837-846 (1991)

18. Gorlich, D., F. Vogel, A. D. Mills, E. Hartmann, & R. A. Laskey: Distinct functions for the two importin subunits in nuclear protein import. *Nature* 377, 246-248 (1995)

19. Gorlich, D., S. Kostka, R. Kraft, C. Dingwall, R. A. Laskey, E. Hartmann, & S. Prehn: Two different subunits of importin cooperate to recognize nuclear localization signals and bind them to the nuclear envelope. *Curr Biol* 5, 383-392 (1995)

20. Radu, A., G. Blobel, & M. S. Moore: Identification of a protein complex that is required for nuclear protein import and mediates docking of import substrate to distinct nucleoporins. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 92, 1769-1773 (1995)

21. Imamoto, N., T. Shimamoto, T. Takao, T. Tachibana, S. Kose, M. Matsubae, T. Sekimoto, Y. Shimonishi, & Y. Yoneda: In vivo evidence for involvement of a 58 kDa component of nuclear pore-targeting complex in nuclear protein import. *EMBO J* 14, 3617-3626 (1995)

22. Imamoto, N., T. Shimamoto, S. Kose, T. Takao, T. Tachibana, M. Matsubae, T. Sekimoto, Y. Shimonishi, & Y. Yoneda: The nuclear pore-targeting complex binds to nuclear pores after association with a karyophile. *FEBS Lett* 368, 415-419 (1995)

23. Enenkel, C., G. Blobel, & M. Rexach: Identification of a yeast karyopherin heterodimer that targets import substrate to mammalian nuclear pore complexes . *J Biol Chem* 270, 16499-16502 (1995)

24. Rexach, M. & G. Blobel: Protein import into nuclei: Association and dissociation reactions involving transport substrate, transport factors, and nucleoporins. *Cell* 83, 683-692 (1995)

25. Moroianu, J., M. Hijikata, G. Blobel, & A. Radu: Mammalian karyopherin alpha 1 beta and alpha 2 beta heterodimers: alpha 1 or alpha 2 subunit binds nuclear localization signal and beta subunit interacts with peptide repeat-containing nucleoporins. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 92, 6532-6536 (1995)

26. Pollard, V. W., W. M. Michael, S. Nakielny, M. C. Siomi, F. Wang, & G. Dreyfuss: A novel receptor-

mediated nuclear protein import pathway. Cell 86, 985-994 (1996)

27. Nakielny, S., M. C. Siomi, H. Siomi, W. M. Michael, V. Pollard, & G. Dreyfuss: Transportin: nuclear transport receptor of a novel nuclear protein import pathway. *Exp Cell Res* 229, 261-266 (1996)

28. Aitchison, J. D., G. Blobel, & M. P. Rout: Kap104p: a karyopherin involved in the nuclear transport of messenger RNA binding proteins. *Science* 274, 624-627 (1996)

29. Fridell, R. A., R. Truant, L. Thorne, R. E. Benson, & B. R. Cullen: Nuclear import of hnRNP A1 is mediated by a novel cellular cofactor related to karyopherin-beta. *J Cell Sci* 110, 1325-1331 (1997)

30. Moore, M. S. & G. Blobel: The GTP-binding protein Ran/TC4 is required for protein import into the nucleus. *Nature* 365, 661-663 (1993)

31. Melchior, F., B. Paschal, J. Evans, & L. Gerace: Inhibition of nuclear protein import by nonhydrolyzable analogues of GTP and identification of the small GTPase Ran/TC4 as an essential transport factor. *J Cell Biol* 123, 1649-1659 (1993)

32. Bischoff, F. R. & H. Ponstingl: Catalysis of guanine nucleotide exchange on Ran by the mitotic regulator RCC1. *Nature* 354, 80-82 (1991)

33. Bischoff, F. R., C. Klebe, J. Kretschmer, A. Wittinghofer, & H. Ponstingl: RanGAP1 induces GTPase activity of nuclear ras-related Ran. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 91, 2587-2591 (1994)

34. Bischoff, F. R., H. Krebber, T. Kempf, I. Hermes, & H. Ponstingl: Human RanGTPase activating protein RanGAP1 is a homolog of yeast RNA1p involved in messenger RNA processing and transport. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 92, 1749-1753 (1995)

35. Ohtsubo, M., H. Okazaki, & T. Nishimoto: The RCC1 protein, a regulator for the onset of chromosome condensation locates in the nucleus and binds to DNA. *J Cell Biol* 109, 1389-1397 (1989)

36. Hopper, A. K., H. M. Traglia, & R. W. Dunst: The yeast RNA1 gene product necessary for RNA processing is located in the cytosol and apparently excluded from the nucleus. *J Cell Biol* 111, 309-321 (1990)

37. Gorlich, D., N. Pante, U. Kutay, U. Aebi, & F. R. Bischoff: Identification of different roles for RanGDP and RanGTP in nuclear protein import. *EMBO J* 15, 5584-5594 (1996)

38. Kutay, U., F. R. Bischoff, S. Kostka, R. Kraft, & D. Gorlich: Export of importin alpha from the nucleus is

mediated by a specific nuclear transport factor. *Cell* 90, 1061-1071 (1997)

39. Bischoff, F. R., H. Krebber, E. Smirnova, W. H. Dong, & H. Ponstingl: Coactivation of RanGTPase and inhibition of GTP dissociation by RanGTP binding protein RanBP1. *EMBO J* 14, 705-715 (1995)

40. Richards, S. A., K. M. Lounsbury, & I. G. Macara: The C terminus of the nuclear RAN/TC4 GTPase stabilizes the GDP-bound state and mediates interactions with RCC1, RAN-GAP, and HTF9A/RANBP1. *J Biol Chem* 270, 14405-14411 (1995)

41. Chi, N. C., E. J. Adam, G. D. Visser, & S. A. Adam: RanBP1 stabilizes the interaction of Ran with p97 nuclear protein import. *J Cell Biol* 135, 559-569 (1996)

42. Dingwall, C., S. Kandels-Lewis, & B. Seraphin: A family of Ran binding proteins that includes nucleoporins. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 92, 7525-7529 (1995)

43. Melchior, F., T. Guan, N. Yokoyama, T. Nishimoto, & L. Gerace: GTP hydrolysis by Ran occurs at the nuclear pore complex in an early step of protein import. *J Cell Biol* 131, 571-581 (1995)

44. Moore, M. S. & G. Blobel: Purification of a Raninteracting protein that is required for protein import into the nucleus. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 91, 10212-10216 (1994)

45. Paschal, B. M. & L. Gerace: Identification of NTF2, a cytosolic factor for nuclear import that interacts with nuclear pore complex protein p62. *J Cell Biol* 129, 925-937 (1995)

46. Nehrbass, U. & G. Blobel: Role of the nuclear transport factor p10 in nuclear import. *Science* 272, 120-122 (1996)

47. Nadler, S. G., D. Tritschler, O. K. Haffar, J. Blake, A. G. Bruce, & J. S. Cleaveland: Differential expression and sequence-specific interaction of karyopherin alpha with nuclear localization sequences. *J Biol Chem* 272, 4310-4315 (1997)

48. Shulga, N., P. Roberts, Z. Gu, L. Spitz, M. M. Tabb, M. Nomura, & D. S. Goldfarb: In vivo nuclear transport kinetics in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*: a role for heat shock protein 70 during targeting and translocation. *J Cell Biol* 135, 329-339 (1996)

49. Jeoung, D. -I., S. Chen, J. Windsor, & R. E. Pollack: Human major HSP70 protein complements the localization and functional defects of cytoplasmic mutant SV40 T antigen in Swiss 3T3 mouse fibroblast cells. *Genes Dev* 5, 2235-2244 (1991) 50. Shi, Y. & J. O. Thomas: The transport of proteins into the nucleus requires the 70-kilodalton heat shock protein or its cytosolic cognate. *Mol Cell Biol* 12, 2186-2192 (1992)

51. Okuno, Y., N. Imamoto, & Y. Yoneda: 70-kDa heatshock cognate protein colocalizes with karyophilic proteins into the nucleus during their transport in vitro. *Exp Cell Res* 206, 134-142 (1993)

52. Stevenson, M., S. Haggerty, C. Lamonica, A. M. Mann, C. Meier, & A. Wasiak: HIV-1 replication is controlled at the level of T cell activation and proviral integration. *EMBO J* 9, 1551-1560 (1990)

53. Zack, J. A., S. J. Arrigo, S. R. Weitsman, A. S. Go, A. Haislip, & I. S. Chen: HIV-1 entry into quiescent primary lymphocytes: molecular analysis reveals a labile, latent viral structure. *Cell* 61, 213-222 (1990)

54. Li, G., M. Simm, M. J. Potash, & D. J. Volsky: Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 DNA synthesis, integration, and efficient viral replication in growth-arrested T cells. *J Virol* 67, 3969-3977 (1993)

55. Rogel, M. E., L. I. Wu, & M. Emerman: The human immunodeficiency virus type 1 vpr gene prevents cell proliferation during chronic infection. *J Virol* 69, 882-888 (1995)

56. McLean, A. R. & C. A. Michie: *In vivo* estimates of division and death rates of human T lymphocytes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 92, 3707-3711 (1995)

57. Spina, A. S., J. C. Guatelli, & D. D. Richman: Establishment of a stable, inducible form of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 DNA in quiescent CD4 lymphocytes *in vitro*. *J Virol* 69, 2977-2988 (1995)

58. Ho, D. D.: Dynamics of HIV-1 replication in vivo. *J Clin Invest* 99, 2565-2567 (1997)

59. Royer, M., M. Cerutti, B. Gay, S. S. Hong, G. Devauchelle, & P. Boulanger: Functional domains of HIV-1 gag-polyprotein expressed in baculovirus-infected cells. *Virology* 184, 417-422 (1991)

60. Gheysen, D., E. Jacobs, F. de Foresta, C. Thiriart, M. Francotte, D. Thines, & M. De Wilde: Assembly and release of HIV-1 precursor Pr55gag virus-like particles from recombinant baculovirus-infected insect cells. *Cell* 59, 103-112 (1989)

61. Chazal, N., C. Carriere, B. Gay, & P. Boulanger: Phenotypic characterization of insertion mutants of the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Gag precursor expressed in recombinant baculovirus-infected cells. *J Virol* 68, 111-122 (1994) 62. Bukrinskaya, A. G., G. K. Vorkunova, & Y. Y. Tentsov: HIV-1 matrix protein p17 resides in cell nuclei in association with genomic RNA. *AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses* 8, 1795-1801 (1992)

63. Sharova, N. K., V. B. Grigor'ev, & A. G. Bukrinskaya: HIV-1 gag proteins in virions and in infected cell fractions. *Biomed Sci* 2, 279-284 (1991)

64. Fouchier, R. A. M., B. E. Meyer, J. H. M. Simon, U. Fischer, & M. H. Malim: HIV-1 infection of non-dividing cells: evidence that the amino-terminal basic region of the viral matrix protein is important for Gag processing but not for post-entry nuclear import. *EMBO J* 16, 4531-4539 (1997)

65. Freed, E. O., G. Englund, & M. A. Martin: Role of the basic domain of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 matrix in macrophage infection. *J Virol* 69, 3949-3954 (1995)

66. Gallay, P., S. Swingler, J. Song, F. Bushman, & D. Trono: HIV nuclear import is governed by the phosphotyrosine-mediated binding of matrix to the core domain of integrase. *Cell* 83, 569-576 (1995)

67. Dworetzky, S. I., R. E. Lanford, & C. M. Feldherr: The effects of variations in the number and sequence of targeting signals on nuclear uptake. *J Cell Biol* 107, 1279-1287 (1988)

68. Kukolj, G., K. S. Jones, & A. M. Skalka: Subcellular localization of avian sarcoma virus and human immunodeficiency virus type 1 integrases. *J Virol* 71, 843-847 (1997)

69. Freed, E. O., G. Englund, F. Maldarelli, & M. A. Martin: Phosphorylation of residue 131 of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 matrix is not required for macrophage infection. *Cell* 88, 171-173 (1997)

70. Naldini, L., U. Blomer, F. H. Gage, D. Trono, & I. M. Verma: Efficient transfer, integration, and sustained long-term expression of the transgene in adult rat brains injected with a lentiviral vector. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 93, 11382-11388 (1996)

71. Naldini, L., U. Blomer, P. Gallay, D. Ory, R. Mulligan, F. H. Gage, I. M. Verma, & D. Trono: In vivo gene delivery and stable transduction of nondividing cells by a lentiviral vector. *Science* 272, 263-267 (1996)

72. Zufferey, R., D. Nagy, R. J. Mandel, L. Naldini, & D. Trono: Multiply attenuated lentiviral vector achieves efficient gene delivery in vivo. *Nature Biotechnology* 15, 871-875 (1997)

73. Freed, E. O. & M. A. Martin: HIV-1 infection of nondividing cells. *Nature* 369, 107-108 (1994) 74. Lu, Y. L., P. Spearman, & L. Ratner: Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 viral protein R localization in infected cells and virions. *J Virol* 67, 6542-6550 (1993)

75. Balliet, J. W., D. L. Kolson, G. Eiger, F. M. Kim, K. A. McGann, A. Srinivasan, & R. Collman: Distinct effects in primary macrophages and lymphocytes of the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 accessory genes vpr, vpu, and nef: mutational analysis of a primary HIV-1 isolate. *Virology* 200, 623-631 (1994)

76. Connor, R. I., B. K. Chen, S. Choe, & N. R. Landau: Vpr is required for efficient replication of human immunodeficiency virus type-1 in mononuclear phagocytes. *Virology* 206, 935-944 (1995)

77. Di Marzio, P., S. Choe, M. Ebright, R. Knoblauch, & N. R. Landau: Mutational analysis of cell cycle arrest, nuclear localization, and virion packaging of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vpr. *J Virol* 69, 7909-7916 (1995)

78. Zhao, L. J., S. Mukherjee, & O. Narayan: Biochemical mechanism of HIV-I Vpr function. Specific interaction with a cellular protein. *J Biol Chem* 269, 15577-15582 (1994)

79. Refaeli, Y., D. N. Levy, & D. B. Weiner: The glucocorticoid receptor type II complex is a target of the HIV-1 vpr gene product. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 92, 3621-3625 (1995)

80. Zhao, L. J., L. Wang, S. Mukherjee, & O. Narayan: Biochemical mechanism of HIV-1 Vpr function. Oligomerization mediated by the N-terminal domain. *J Biol Chem* 269, 32131-32137 (1994)

81. Mahalingam, S., V. Ayyavoo, M. Patel, T. Kieber-Emmons, & D. B. Weiner: Nuclear import, virion incorporation, and cell cycle arrest/differentiation are mediated by distinct functional domains of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vpr. *J Virol* 71, 6339-6347 (1997)

82. Westervelt, P., D. B. Trowbridge, L. G. Epstein, B. M. Blumberg, Y. Li, B. H. Hahn, G. M. Shaw, R. W. Price, & L. Ratner: Macrophage tropism determinants of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 in vivo. *J Virol* 66, 2577-2582 (1992)

83. Balotta, C., P. Lusso, R. Crowley, R. C. Gallo, & G. Franchini: Antisense phosphorothioate oligodeoxynucleotides targeted to the vpr gene inhibit human immunodeficiency virus type 1 replication in primary human macrophages. *J Virol* 67, 4409-4414 (1993)

84. Adam, S. A.: The importance of importin. *Trends Cell Biol* 5, 189-191 (1995)

85. Dubrovsky, L., P. Ulrich, G. J. Nuovo, K. R. Manogue, A. Cerami, & M. Bukrinsky: Nuclear localization signal of HIV-1 as a novel target for therapeutic intervention. *Molec Med* 1, 217-230 (1995)

86. Popov, S., L. Dubrovsky, M. -A. Lee, S. Pennathur, O. Haffar, Y. Al-Abed, P. Tonge, P. Ulrich, M. Rexach, G. Blobel, A. Cerami, & M. Bukrinsky: Critical role of reverse transcriptase in the inhibitory mechanism of CNI-H0294 on HIV-1 nuclear translocation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 93, 11859-11864 (1996)

87. Gulizia, J., M. P. Dempsey, N. Sharova, M. I. Bukrinsky, L. Spitz, D. Goldfarb, & M. Stevenson: Reduced nuclear import of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 preintegration complexes in the presence of a prototypic nuclear targeting signal. *J Virol* 68, 2021-2025 (1994)

88. Gallay, P., V. Stitt, C. Mundy, M. Oettinger, & D. Trono: Role of the karyopherin pathway in human immunodeficiency virus type 1 nuclear import. *J Virol* 70, 1027-1032 (1996)

89. Weis, K., U. Ryder, & A. I. Lamond: The conserved amino-terminal domain of hSRP1a is essential for nuclear protein import. *EMBO J* 15, 1818-1825 (1996)

90. Melchior, F. & L. Gerace: Mechanisms of nuclear protein import. *Curr Opin Cell Biol* 7, 310-318 (1995)